2003

Mi Vida Enterprises v. Steen-Adams v. Nancy Ciddio Steen-Adams and Charles A. Steen, III : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

II. FACTS

When viewed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiffs, the facts are as follows. In 1951, Defendant Charles A. Steen, Sr. ("Charles, Sr.") discovered what has been described as the largest uranium deposit in United States history. Through the 1950s and 1960s Charles, Sr. and his wife, M.L. Steen, now deceased, conducted successful mining businesses and invested in diverse businesses. However, by the late 1960s Charles, Sr. and M.L. found themselves in financial trouble. In 1968, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") seized large amounts of their assets, and they filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. In 1971, Charles, Sr. suffered a serious head injury that resulted in his inability to control his personal or business affairs. Since that time, Charles, Sr.'s son, Mark Ashby Steen ("Mark"), has controlled his affairs. Since the accident, Charles, Sr.'s four sons, Charles, Jr., Andy, John, and Mark, have engaged in a hostile family struggle over the assets that remained after the IRS and bankruptcy proceedings. The struggle has revolved around the family's corporation, Mi Vida Enterprises, Inc. ("Mi Vida").

Defendant Mi Vida is a closely held family corporation. Mi Vida is in the business of mining, acquiring land for mining projects, and developing real estate. Mi Vida was incorporated in Utah in 1973 and was authorized to conduct business in Colorado until 1992, when the Colorado Secretary of State revoked its certification. Mi Vida's authorization to conduct business in Colorado was subsequently reinstated, but was again revoked in 1995. Mi Vida re-registered as a foreign corporation in Colorado in

1997 and is currently in good standing. Mi Vida owns extensive real estate in Boulder County, Colorado and elsewhere. Because of the family infighting, Mi Vida has failed to make productive use of its assets. However, the assets, namely enormous property holdings, are estimated to be worth several million dollars.

Mi Vida conducts business from the home of Defendant Mark Steen in Longmont, Colorado. No shareholder meetings have been held since 1994. In their Complaint, the Plaintiffs contend that the stock of Mi Vida is held by the following individuals and in the following percentages:

- **Defendant Charles A. Steen, Sr.:** 500,000 shares representing 16.7% of Mi Vida. Charles, Sr. has served as president and director of Mi Vida throughout the relevant period. However, Charles, Sr. suffers from Alzheimer's disease. Because of his illness, he is unable to manage his business or personal affairs. His son, Defendant Mark Steen, with whom he lives, manages Charles, Sr.'s affairs.
- **Minnie Lee Holland Steen ("M.L."):** 500,000 shares representing 16.7% of Mi Vida. M.L. died on July 14, 1997, and was the wife of Charles, Sr. Her estate is currently being probated in the Boulder County District Court. Defendant Mark Steen is the personal representative of M.L.'s estate.
- **Defendant Mark Steen:** 500,000 shares representing 16.7% of Mi Vida. Since at least 1987, Mark has served as vice president, treasurer, and director of Mi Vida.
- **Defendant John Charles Steen ("John"):** 500,000 shares representing 16.7% of Mi Vida. Since at least 1987, John has served as secretary and director of Mi Vida. Because of an illness, Mark manages John's business affairs.
- **Plaintiff Charles A. Steen, Jr. ("Charles, Jr."):** 125,000 shares representing 4.2% of Mi Vida. Since 1987, Charles, Jr. has been a director of Mi Vida, although he has received no notice of directors' meetings or actions taken by the directors since 1994.
- **Plaintiff Jayne Marie Steen ("Jayne"):** 116,980 shares representing about 3.9% of Mi Vida. Jayne is the current wife of Charles, Jr.
- **Plaintiff Nancy Ciddio Steen-Adams ("Nancy"):** 250,000 shares representing 8.3% of Mi Vida. Nancy is the ex-wife of Charles, Jr.
- **Plaintiff Monica Lee Steen ("Monica"):** M.L. bequeathed 50,000 shares, representing 1.67% of Mi Vida, to Monica in her will. Monica is the adult daughter of Charles, Jr. and Nancy.
- **Plaintiff Charles A. Steen III ("Charles III"):** M.L. bequeathed 50,000 shares, representing 1.67% of Mi Vida, to Charles III in her will. Charles III is the adult son of Charles, Jr. and Nancy.
- **Andrew Kirk Steen ("Andy"):** 500,000 shares representing 16.7% of Mi Vida. Andy is the son of Charles, Sr. and M.L. His last known mailing address was in Switzerland but none of the Plaintiffs knows with certainty where he currently resides. Andy has been a director of Mi Vida since 1987, but has not participated as a director for at least twelve years.

- **Plaintiff Andrew Kirk Steen, Jr. ("Kirk")**: M.L. bequeathed 100,000 shares, representing 3.33% of Mi Vida, to Kirk in her will. Kirk is the adult son of Andy.
- **Plaintiff Karen M. Steen ("Karen")**: 4,010 shares representing .13% of Mi Vida. Karen is the minor daughter of Charles, Jr. and Jayne.
- **Plaintiff Jennifer Steen ("Jennifer")**: 4,010 shares representing .13% of Mi Vida. Jennifer is the minor daughter of Charles, Jr. and Jayne.
- **Ashley Victoria Steen ("Ashley")**: M.L. bequeathed 100,000 shares, representing 3.33% of Mi Vida, to Ashley in her will. Ashley is the minor daughter of Mark.
- **Tera Marie Holland ("Tera")**: M.L. bequeathed 150,000 shares, representing 5% of Mi Vida, to Tera in her will. Tera is M.L.'s sister and is currently living in a nursing home and cannot care for herself.
- **Karla Wright ("Karla")**: M.L. bequeathed 50,000 shares, representing 1.67% of Mi Vida, to Karla in her will. Karla is Tera's adult daughter.

The Plaintiffs assert that the recipients of M.L.'s bequests are the beneficial owners of their respective shares because those shares will pass by operation of law at the conclusion of the probate process.

Because Mark manages Charles, Sr.'s and John's business affairs, as well as serves as the personal representative of M.L.'s estate, he currently controls Mi Vida. Further, Mark controls the Board of Directors because of the five living directors, Mark controls his own vote and the votes of Charles, Sr. and John.

In June, 1992, Mark created three Colorado corporations, Gold Reef Mining Company, Inc. ("Gold Reef"), Southern Cross Prospecting Company, Inc. ("Southern Cross"), and Gold Hill Mines, Inc. ("Gold Hill"). Further, Mark created Golden Tontine, LLC ("Golden Tontine"), a Colorado limited liability company. These four companies are named as defendants and referred to collectively as the Mark Steen Companies. The Mark Steen Companies share the same Longmont, Colorado address as Mi Vida.

In their Complaint, the Plaintiffs, minority shareholders, assert six claims against the Defendants. First, the Plaintiffs claim a breach of fiduciary duty by Mi Vida's officers. Second, the Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment regarding diverted corporate opportunities and property. Third, the Plaintiffs request an accounting and a return of certain Mi Vida property. Fourth, the Plaintiffs wish to review certain corporate documents of Mi Vida. Fifth, the Plaintiffs request this Court to order an involuntary corporate dissolution of Mi Vida. Finally, the Plaintiffs request that a receiver be appointed. The Defendants' Motion to Dismiss seeks to dismiss all of these claims.

III. ARGUMENT

The Defendants first argue that this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case. The Defendants contend that Mi Vida's status as a Utah corporation operates to deprive this Court of authority to hear the case. The Defendants argue that neither Utah's

corporate code nor Colorado's corporate code authorizes the dissolution of Mi Vida or a receivership pursuant to dissolution. In further support of this position, the Defendants rely on C.R.S. § 7-101-104(11), which defines a corporation as "a corporation for profit which is not a foreign corporation." Motion ¶ 7. Thus, the Defendants conclude that the provisions in Colorado's corporate code that deal with dissolution of a corporation only implicate domestic corporations. Further, the Defendants cite Utah Code § 16-10a-102(11) and (19), which define "corporation" and "foreign corporation" the same way Colorado Revised Statutes define those terms. In addition, the Defendants cite Utah Code § 16-10a-1431, which states that any proceeding for dissolution by a shareholder "shall be brought in the district court of the county in this state where the corporation's principal office, or, if it has no principal office in this state, its registered agent is or was located." The Defendants also argue that Mi Vida's bylaws bind the Plaintiffs to Utah as a venue and for choice of law. Finally, the Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs have not asserted facts to show an imminent threat of future harm that can be forestalled by the drastic remedy of involuntary dissolution. On these grounds, the Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs fifth and sixth claims, for involuntary dissolution and receivership, should be dismissed.

The Defendants next argue that certain of the Plaintiffs lack standing. The Defendants claim that Plaintiffs Monica Lee Steen, Charles III, and Andrew Kirk Steen, Jr. do not have, and have never had, any shares in Mi Vida. The Defendants contend that the Plaintiffs incorrectly claim that these three Plaintiffs are "beneficial" shareholders because they received their shares through bequests of M.L. Steen. The Defendants cite Utah Code § 16-10a-102(33), which defines "shareholder" as either a record owner or a "beneficial owner of shares to the extent recognized pursuant to section 16-10a-723." Motion ¶ 16. The Defendants contend that Utah Code § 16-10a-723 recognizes only those whose interests are registered in the name of the nominee if the corporation has such a procedure. The Defendants then conclude that because Mi Vida does not have such a procedure, these three Plaintiffs lack standing because the record owner of those shares is M.L. Steen.

The Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs fail to state a claim for the improper taking of a corporate opportunity. The Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs' contention that Mi Vida is deadlocked is fatal to their claim of taking of corporate opportunities. The Defendants state that there is no deadlock on their part, any deadlock has been created by Plaintiff Charles, Jr. in his capacity as a joint mortgage holder. The Defendants assert that the Plaintiffs' claim a taking of corporate opportunity as another ground for dissolution because they cannot prove actual deadlock. The Defendants contend that the Plaintiffs have failed to plead the two elements of taking of a corporate opportunity. First, the Plaintiffs must plead facts that allege in what way the opportunity in question belonged to the corporation. Second, the Plaintiffs must allege facts demonstrating that the corporation had the financial ability to consummate the opportunity. The Defendants argue that Mi Vida's tax returns, which the Plaintiffs have access to, prove that the corporation did not have sufficient funds to finance any of the opportunities taken by the Mark Steen Companies. The Defendants also complain that Plaintiff Charles, Jr. and his wife, Jayne, have engaged in the same types of taking of

corporate opportunities. Finally, the Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs taking of corporate opportunity claim is "incoherently stated and confused with other possible claims which are not properly pled." Motion § V.

The Defendants contend that the Plaintiffs should have asserted claims for a derivative action, a quiet title action, and/or a fraudulent conveyance action. In regard to the derivative action, the Defendants claim that the Plaintiffs did not comply with C.R.C.P. 23.1, which requires a plaintiff to make a written demand to a corporation before initiating a derivative suit.

Next, the Defendants assert that the Plaintiffs have failed to join indispensable parties. The Defendants argue that because the Plaintiffs should have pled claims for a derivative action, a quiet title action, and/or a fraudulent conveyance action, they have failed to join indispensable parties to those claims.

The Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs' breach of fiduciary duty claim is barred by the statute of limitations. Under both the Colorado Statutes and the Utah Code, claims for breach of fiduciary duty must be brought within three years. The Defendants object to several of the factual allegations asserted in the Plaintiffs' complaint in support of the breach of fiduciary duty claim. In particular, the Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs' allegations that the Steen library and mineral collection are Mi Vida assets wrongfully transferred to Mark are barred because these assets were owned by Charles, Sr. and M.L. when they filed for bankruptcy in 1968. The Defendants contend that these items became part of the bankruptcy estate and that they had to have been disposed of prior to the termination of the bankruptcy in 1979. The Defendants conclude that the Plaintiffs cannot now assert a claim for breach of fiduciary duty based on these items.

Additionally, the Defendants reject the Plaintiffs' argument that the Plaintiffs only recently discovered the factual information relating to land transfers underlying their claim for breach of fiduciary duty. Instead, the Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs must affirmatively state reasons for their failure to discover such facts earlier. The Defendants argue that because all real estate transfers must be recorded, the recordings of the alleged improper transfers of real estate put the Plaintiffs on constructive notice. The Defendants also assert that some of the Plaintiffs had actual knowledge of some of the transfers now complained of.

Next, the Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs' claim for an accounting fails to state a legally cognizable claim. The Defendants assert that the Plaintiffs have repeatedly refused to see that Mi Vida's accountant is paid, and if he were paid the Plaintiffs would have the accounting. Further, the Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs have no equitable right to an accounting of the Mark Steen Companies because they hold no equity interest in any of these entities.

Finally, the Defendants argue that the Plaintiffs' claim requesting that corporate documents be produced fails to state a claim. The Defendants claim that the Plaintiffs fail to identify what records exist and which are desired. Further, the Defendants contend that all but four of the documents requested by the Plaintiffs are financial documents.

available at the offices of Mi Vida's accountant, Mr. Snodgrass. The Defendants assert that the four documents that are not financial are in the possession of the Plaintiffs.

The Plaintiffs' response is as lengthy and detailed as the Defendants' motion. The Plaintiffs begin by arguing that the exhibits attached to the Defendants' motion are improper because there are no accompanying affidavits to authenticate the exhibits or to describe what facts the Defendants view as relevant. Because the Defendants did not furnish any affidavits, the Plaintiffs argue that the Defendants have failed to meet their burden under C.R.C.P. 56. The Plaintiffs further argue that their Verified Complaint, because it is verified, suffices to show that numerous issues of material fact exist which preclude the entry of summary judgment.

In response to the Defendants' claim that this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case, the Plaintiffs admit that Mi Vida is a Utah corporation, but deny that this fact deprives the Court of subject matter jurisdiction. The Plaintiffs argue that the Court has jurisdiction over their first through fourth claims: breach of fiduciary duty; declaratory judgment regarding diverted corporate opportunities; request for an accounting and return of Mi Vida property; and review of corporate documents. The Plaintiffs support this assertion by stating that because the corporate officers are all Colorado residents and reside in Boulder County, the Court has personal jurisdiction over them and thus Boulder County is the proper venue. Further, the Plaintiffs argue that jurisdiction is proper over the first four claims because these claims all involve actions taken by the Defendants in Colorado, diversion of corporate opportunities including land located in Colorado, and transactions that occurred in Colorado. In addition, the Plaintiffs contend that it is well established that shareholders of a foreign corporation may file derivative claims in a state in which the corporation is not incorporated. Finally, the Plaintiffs argue that Colorado case law supports their fourth claim for a review of corporate documents.

In regard to their fifth and sixth claims for involuntary dissolution and receivership, the Plaintiffs contend that this Court has discretion to assert jurisdiction. The Plaintiffs rely primarily on two cases, Ficor, Inc. v. McHugh, 639 P.2d 385 (Colo. 1982), and Jefferson Indus. Bank v. First Golden Bancorporation, 762 P.2d 768 (Colo.App. 1988). The Plaintiffs state that these cases interpreted the predecessor to the current Colorado corporate code as allowing application of the act to foreign corporations in certain circumstances. These circumstances include those where choice of law principles permit such application, where the foreign corporation has transacted substantial business in Colorado, and where policy considerations do not dictate a different conclusion. Although the Plaintiffs do not cite any Colorado cases directly on the issue of dissolution of a foreign corporation, they state that other jurisdictions have considered the issue. According to the Plaintiffs, these jurisdictions have found that jurisdiction could be properly exercised when the situation involves "strong ties to the forum, especially where the bulk of corporate assets are located there, the bulk of business has been done there, and corporate officers and directors are subject to the court's jurisdiction." Annotation, Dissolving or Winding Up Affairs of Corporation Domiciled in Another State, 19 A.L.R.3d 1279, 1285-86. Finally, the Plaintiffs rely on

Fletcher's Cyclopedic of the Law of Corporations to support their assertion that this Court has discretion to assert jurisdiction over Mi Vida's dissolution because some courts have "focused on convenience and equity rather than treating the issue as a question of power." Fletcher's at § 8579. The Plaintiffs consider all of these factors in relation to Mi Vida and conclude that this Court can, and should, use its discretion and exercise jurisdiction over their fifth and sixth claims.

The Plaintiffs argue that even if this Court declines to exercise its jurisdiction to hear the fifth and sixth claims, this Court may order Mi Vida's officers to seek dissolution in Utah and appoint a custodian over Mi Vida's assets in Colorado. Again, the Plaintiffs rely on Fletcher's, which states that if a court has jurisdiction over a corporation's officers the court may "make decrees and orders affecting the property of the corporation in other states and enforce obedience to them." Fletcher's at § 8561. Finally, the Plaintiffs state that "local courts may appoint receivers for the property and assets of a foreign corporation located in the state, and wind up the affairs of the foreign corporation so far as they are within the jurisdiction." Fletcher's at § 8579.

In response to the Defendants' statute of limitations argument, the Plaintiffs contend that all of their factual claims are within the statute of limitations. The Plaintiffs argue that because the Defendants admit in their motion that at least one of the Plaintiffs' factual claims is within the statute of limitations, none of the Plaintiffs' claims for relief can be dismissed on this ground. Further, the Plaintiffs argue that it is unclear when the statute of limitations began to run on their claims. The Plaintiffs assert that under the Utah Code, the statute does not begin to run until after their discovery of the facts upon which the claims are based. The Plaintiffs state that because there has been no shareholders meeting since 1994 and because no financial information exists for the last several years, they simply did not know what the corporate officers were doing with Mi Vida's assets and had no reason to know that the Mark Steen Companies existed. Additionally, the Plaintiffs agree with the Defendants that failure to hold shareholders meetings is alone not enough to compel dissolution, but argue that they thus had no basis for bringing any claims until they learned that the Mark Steen Companies had been formed and were active in mining and land transactions in Colorado. The Plaintiffs assert that they did not become aware of the Mark Steen Companies until June, 1998, when they read in a newspaper about a deal between ITEC Environmental Colorado, Inc. ("ITEC") and one of the Mark Steen Companies. The Plaintiffs conclude that because the complaint was filed a year after they discovered the newspaper articles, they have complied with the statute of limitations. Finally, the Plaintiffs argue that if there is a factual dispute about when the Plaintiffs knew or should have known about some of their claims, such a dispute is not properly resolved at this stage.

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