2003

Mi Vida Enterprises, a Utah corporation, Plaintiff,  
Appellee and Mark A. Steen vs. Nancy Ciddio  
Steen-Adams and Charles A. Steen, III, Defendant,  
Appellant : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

For the rest, the response to Nancy's first argument is just this: to this day, no evidence, over and above Nancy's protest of actual ignorance of the underlying facts, supports the allegation that she did not know the underlying truth; indeed, all of the evidence controverts this allegation, and this evidence consists of not only hard documentary evidence providing her with notice of the events at issue, but the fact that much of this evidence was reviewed by two attorneys engaged by Nancy for just this purpose.

It is hard to know what to say with regard to the second argument; it is just absurd on its face. As explained below, the ITEC transaction, which occurred in the late 1990s, has nothing whatsoever to do with the other alleged "defalcations," even if the latter are viewed as meritorious, because they occurred many, many years before.

#### **B. The Second Appeal/Attorney Fee Assessment**

The focus of the second appeal is concentrated entirely on the issue of whether attorney fees and other costs were properly assessed against Nancy and Charles, III. This was done on multiple bases, which will be briefly recounted here. Once again, however, the first thing to notice is that Appellants do not defend themselves against the assessment on the grounds that they believed then, or even now, that their claims were meritorious. Rather, the argument is that Nancy lacked the requisite intent, manifesting bad faith or some improper purpose, when she filed her claims, because she did not know anything.

The problem for Appellants is, once again, a paucity of evidence supporting the desired inference. In fact, there is no evidence whatsoever cited from the record itself in support of Nancy's "good faith." What is rather worse, no effort is made by Appellants, in compliance with Rule 24(a)(9), to marshal the record evidence that supports the trial court's challenged finding of bad faith or improper motive.

The mootness of the first appeal is confirmed by the fact that *were* this Court to grant the appeal, the remedy would be a remand wherein the trial court would be instructed to take the evidence of the very sort it had in fact actually heard when the remaining claims were tried over a period of six (6) days in April and May of 2003. And it must be admitted that the evidence in favor of the trial court's findings of fact on this score is considerable, as the following considerations suffice to show.

All of Appellants' arguments regarding the claims made below, both in Utah and, prior to that, in Colorado, must be appraised within the larger context in which they were originally made. The original complaint filed by Nancy and her cohorts had, as its principal purpose, the removal of the existing management of Mi Vida and its replacement by a receiver, to be followed by a ruinous dissolution or partition of its assets. The remaining claims for relief, the shareholder derivative claims and the so-called "direct" claims, merely afforded the pretext for dissolution and, in turn, the interim appointment of a receiver. This otherwise hopeless hodgepodge of "claims" from the Dissidents gains unitary meaning only insofar as they afford "grounds" for dissolution under the involuntary, judicial dissolution statute. The Dissidents simply

*had* to make some such claims if they were to have any hope of wresting the control of Mi Vida away from Mark and the others.

In short, the best evidence of the Appellants' intent is the overall structure their case took from the very start; this and the fact that this intent never varied throughout and was stubbornly maintained to the very last. The principal purpose was never to realize or "recover" the full value of their shares. On the contrary, this very object was studiously avoided, much as a "greenmailer" avoids (above all else) selling his shares on a market basis since this is inconsistent with his primary objective of being bought out *at a premium*. What to do then? Wreak as much harm as possible in hopes of gaining "leverage" and, thus, preferential treatment. It is an old story, ever tiresome in the telling, and the current case is but yet another instantiation of a familiar stratagem whereby one endeavors to get more than one's due and, to that end, is prepared to traumatize everyone else to get it.

None of this was lost on the trial court, which shrewdly sensed at the very outset that things were radically amiss when it was asked to review the Dissidents' efforts to dissolve a Utah corporation in another state, even though the overwhelming bulk of its assets were located in Utah. This decision to seek the dissolution of a corporation in another jurisdiction was problematic enough, but (abstruse jurisdictional scruples, however weighty, aside) more troubling was a substantive question: why wouldn't disgruntled minority shareholders *want* to be bought out of an investment in a corporation run by such (allegedly) horrid people?

To appreciate the full force of this question, two further facts must be appreciated. First, Utah has a procedure that faithfully replicates §1434 of the Model Business Corporation Act (“MCBA”), which provides for the buyout of shareholders who make a claim for dissolution. This procedure, found at U.C.A. § 16-10a-1434, provides a mechanism, too, for the valuation of not only the stock but any other claims a shareholder might have against a corporation, like legitimate “derivative” claims. Thus, if it proves true that, say, some corporate officer “diverted” assets belonging to the corporation to himself or some third party, the full value of those assets are *deemed* fully recovered by the corporation, and the dissenting shareholders’ shares are enhanced in value accordingly. In this way, nothing is “lost” in a buyout if the disgruntled shareholders had a legitimate claim; he or she is “made whole.” This is the first fact to be appreciated.

The second fact is that, Colorado, where Nancy, *et al.*, opted to file their case, has no such procedure! Why, then, elect to proceed in Colorado? This was the initial question that the trial court posed to the Dissidents’ counsel at a hearing held on April 10, 2000 when it was asked by Mi Vida to enjoin the Dissidents from seeking dissolution outside of Utah in a state that did not give corporations the right to buyout shareholders requesting dissolution. No answer was forthcoming. Patiently, the court persisted and pressed again. In the end, no real answer was to be had.

The details are recounted below. It is fair to say, however, that this interchange informed the entire course of the proceedings that followed. Why did the

dissident shareholders resist the opportunity to be made whole? What was to be gained? Apparently, the opportunity to be made whole was not enough – more was desired, more than what they were otherwise legally entitled to receive. It was at this juncture that one got the not-so-subtle point that some improper purpose was afoot.

On a more substantive level, there were other aspects of the Dissidents' case that were no less troubling. In order to support their claim for dissolution, admittedly a drastic remedy, the dissidents asserted massive “waste” and a wide-ranging “diversion” of corporate assets – the dramatic effect of which was heightened by accusations of “self-dealing” by Mark and others. The description was cast in lurid, melodramatic prose, salted with salacious soap-operatic details, and everything was expressed in a tone of heightened urgency. While the case principally concerned events that occurred decades before, something drastic had to be done, and be done immediately.

The trouble was that all these accusations, so easily made, ran afoul of a few stubborn facts. Mi Vida's assets consisted almost entirely of real estate, and vacant land at that, with very little income. In fact, the income for the corporation was scarcely sufficient to pay the *ad valorem* property taxes assessed against the land. These facts were, and remain, undisputed.

More to the point, these plain, homely facts immediately suggest problems for anyone contending that Mi Vida's real estate assets were “diverted” or “misappropriated.” If, as alleged, there were “diversions,” then any and all such transfers would show up in the public records by way of deed or encumbrance.

Again, what Mi Vida originally had in the way of real estate was evidenced by deeds *to* Mi Vida. Any subsequent sale or transfer by Mi Vida *out of* Mi Vida could readily be “proved up” by a review of the public records. A good start, then, in proving a case for diversion would be to pull Mi Vida’s tax records from the assessor’s office to see what parcels it still owned. Again, that’s easy and would at least give you your start. If you were also nervous about encumbrances, like mortgages and other liens, a title company could be recruited to do the rest, again in short order. And, surely, *if you were conscientious, or just mindful of your Rule 11 obligations*, this is how you *would* proceed before filing suit and *before* you started making all sorts of wild accusations.

Now there is no need to overstate matters from the other side here. A check of the public records would only give you your start. While it takes you far, it is not definitive because there are other ways in which “self-dealing” might manifest itself, even with a corporation that consists almost exclusively of unimproved real estate. Maybe there *should* have been transfers “in” that did not occur. It is presumably to cover this sort of possibility that the Dissidents further alleged a claim of “taking of corporate opportunity.” But then the mere *possibility* of this sort of thing happening does not suffice to support a genuine legal claim; you must be prepared to explain why you think some such thing *actually* occurred.

The problem that immediately and directly confronts any such suggestion is that before you can make it you have to allege, and be prepared to prove, two other things: first, that there was an opportunity that somehow “belonged” to the

corporation, and, second, that the corporation was in a position financially to avail itself of the opportunity thus provided. Both of these things are necessary if any putative plaintiff is to hope to make his case alleging a taking of corporate opportunity.

Nancy's problem here, and it is an almost insurmountable problem, is once again those stubborn facts we just alluded to, *viz.*, Mi Vida had next to no operating income. How, then, could it buy still more assets? Lest it be suggested that while this was indeed the case, Nancy, *et al.*, were not in a position to know as much, there is the added fact that she was in possession of Mi Vida's income tax returns for the years in which these multifarious "opportunities" presented themselves. A serious question is raised, therefore, about what she and her fellow dissidents *actually believed* about Mi Vida's financial-wherewithal to realize any alleged opportunities.

Before this Court decides to indulge Nancy's suspicions, seeking some credence in the barest possibility that they *might* be true, despite those plain, homely though stubborn facts enumerated above, it will want to know whether and when she was warned of these problems, even if they did not occur to her as, we contend, they should have occurred to anyone making the claims she made.

Again, an answer is readily forthcoming: Nancy and her cohorts were warned from the very outset that Mark and Mi Vida would make these very points when they moved to dismiss the Boulder Complaint (even before filing an answer and listing their defenses). While it is true that the Boulder Court denied this motion,

the Dissidents were advised from the get-go that the battle was joined on this issue, and would be fought (at least in part) on these very grounds.

More to the point, the Utah trial court raised those exact same issues in its original Ruling enjoining the Dissidents from proceeding in Colorado, at least with respect to Mi Vida's Utah real estate. *See Steen Addendum, Exhibit A, p. 7.* And yet Nancy persisted. Given the opportunity to abjure her derivative claims when the Colorado Action was dismissed, instead she renewed them. The Colorado claims, with some curious exceptions, go over essentially unchanged when she re-files her pleadings in Utah (now framed as counterclaims against Mi Vida and cross-claims against Mark). She takes care only to make them more nebulous and indefinite, perhaps in hopes of immunizing them from definite refutation.

Such hopes proved vain. The law on this score is plain: fee assessments and like penalties are awarded not only when a party files pleadings that are themselves sanctionable but also when you stubbornly persist in *maintaining* proceedings that are sanctionable. Indeed, it is arguable that the latter conduct is the more egregious.

## **VI. ARGUMENT**

### **A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON CLAIMS THAT HAD EXPIRED UNDER THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS**

The bulk of the Dissidents' derivative case concerned the alleged "diversion" of assets which, they claim, were owned by Mi Vida. Since none of these assets were ever actually titled in Mi Vida's name, the argument was made that they *should* have

been titled in Mi Vida's name because it was the rightful owner. These assets can be grouped together so that they fall into one of four categories:

- (1) certain Personalty;
- (2) the Cosmos Claims;
- (3) the Little and Rodgers Claims; and
- (4) the ITEC contract rights.

In its ruling granting summary judgment, the trial court dismissed all of Nancy's derivative claims with respect to those assets in categories (1) through (3), on grounds of the applicable statutes of limitation. However, it declined to dismiss any claim pertaining to the ITEC transaction on the same basis since it was more recent. *See Exhibit 3 of Appellants' Addendum.*

Appellants proceed to question in this appeal certain aspects of the Summary Judgment Ruling, through, to be sure, *only certain aspects* of that ruling. It is important to appreciate on what particular legal basis the Summary Judgment Ruling is disputed and here appealed. Nancy does **not** question the trial court's citation of the proper statute, or its calculation of the proper pertinent time period. The trial court held that U.C.A. § 78-12-27's three year period applies, and that, given that the Dissidents' complaint in the Colorado Action was signed on June 8, 1999, the question became one of whether Nancy knew, or should have known with the exercise of reasonable diligence, by June 9, 1996 that Mi Vida had no claim to the assets in question. Here the trial court cites *Stewart v. K&S Co.*, 591 P. 2d 433 (Utah 1997) in establishing June 9, 1996 as the "cut-off date."

Nancy, for her part, denies having such knowledge until “sometime” *after* July 14, 1997. Even then, as the trial court expressly noted, Nancy omits to say precisely when she did learn of these things. *See Appellants’ Addendum Exhibit 3; TCR 3052.* (This “omission,” if it can be called that, undoubtedly has an explanation that Appellants, even now, decline to give.)

Before we try to get a fix on just what Nancy knew and when she knew it, we need to be clear on just which derivative claims she is seeking to resurrect by framing an appeal on this issue. Obviously, Nancy is not trying to overcome the dismissal of the ITEC claim because, while this claim, too, was eventually dismissed, it was not dismissed by the Summary Judgment Ruling on statute of limitation grounds.

But notice further that Nancy is not looking to resurrect her claims to the Personalty originally alleged by her to have been owned by Mi Vida. This claim has apparently been abandoned for the purposes of this appeal, and then understandably so, as the trial court noted:

It appears from the allegations and uncontroverted facts that each of these claims, if legitimate, arose at or around the time of the incorporation of Mi Vida or within a few years thereafter; consequently, any claim thereto is barred by the statute of limitations on the same rationale discussed above regarding mining claims.

*Appellants’ Addendum Exhibit 3, p. 15; TCR at 3056.*

So this ground for appeal, that pertaining to the statute of limitations, concerns only Mi Vida’s alleged ownership of certain mining claims, namely, the Cosmos Claims and the Little and Rodgers Claims, or what we have called categories (3) and (4) above, and nothing else.

With that much clear, we need to focus on just why the trial court determined that Nancy knew or, with the exercise of reasonable diligence, should have known about Mi Vida's "claim" to these assets and filed before the expiration of the statute of limitations, i.e., before June 9, 1996.

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